
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE BAHAMAS 

COMMERCIAL DIVISION 

CAUSE NO. 00014 OF 2020 

IN THE MATTER OF the Companies Act, Ch. 308 

AND 

IN THE MATTER OF an Application under the Securities Industry Act, 2011 

AND 

IN THE MATTER of MINTBROKER INTERNATIONAL LTD. (FORMERLY SWISS AMERICA 
SECURITIES LTD.) T/A SURE TRADER Swiss America Securities, a Registered Securities Firm. 
 

ADVERTISEMENT OF WINDING UP PETITION 

 
TAKE NOTICE that a petition for an order that SWISS AMERICA SECURITIES LTD., whose offices 
were formerly situated at Elizabeth on Bay Plaza, Suite 17, Bay Street, Nassau, The Bahamas (the 
"Company"), be put into liquidation and wound up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, was on 5 March 2020, presented to the Supreme Court of The Bahamas.  
 
The petition was presented by the Securities Commission of The Bahamas located at 2nd Floor 
Poinciana House, North Building, 31A East Bay Street, Nassau, The Bahamas. Joint Provisional 
Liquidators (JPLs), Mr. Igal Wizman and Ms. Eleanor Fisher, both of Ernst and Young, were 
appointed by the court on 17 March 2020.  Copies of the petition, supporting affidavits and the 
Order appointing the JPLs, may all be obtained from the petitioner’s website www.scb.gov.bs. 
 
AND FURTHER TAKE NOTICE that the hearing of the petition will take place on Tuesday 19 May 
2020 at the Supreme Court, Nassau, New Providence, The Bahamas, at 2:00 p.m. and that any 
creditor or shareholder of the Company may be heard on the petition provided that he has given 
three (3) days’ notice to the petitioner at the given address. The notice must state the name and 
address of the person, or, if a firm, the name and address of the firm, and must be signed by the 
person or firm, or his or their attorney (if any) and must be served, or if posted, must be sent by 
post in sufficient time to reach the petitioner not later than 4:00 o’clock on the afternoon of the 
13th day of May, 2020.  

 
Securities Commission of The Bahamas (Petitioner) 

2nd Floor Poinciana House, 
North Building 

31A East Bay Street 
Nassau, The Bahamas.  

http://www.scb.gov.bs/
































THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE BAHAMAS 

IN THE SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT 
Commercia l Division 

MAR 05 roro 
Nassau, Bahamas 

IN THE MATTER of the Companies Act, 1992 

AND 

2020 

COM/com/ 

IN THE MATTER of an Appl icat ion under the Securities Industry Act, 2011 

AND 

IN THE MATTER of MINTBROKER INTERNATIONAL LTD. (FORMERLY SWISS AMERICA 

SECURITIES LTD.) T/A SURE TRADER Swiss America Securities, a Registered Securities Firm. 

AFFIDAVIT OF CHRISTINA R. ROLLE 

I, Christina R. Rolle, Executive Director of the Securities Commission of The Bahamas (the 

Commission), New Providence, one of the Islands of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, make 

oath and say as follows: 

1. I make this Affidavit on behalf of the Petitioner herein in my capacity as the Executive 

Di rector of the Commission. 

2. The facts and matters referred to herein are, unless otherw ise stated, within my own 

knowledge or are obtained from documents in possession of the Commission or its legal 

advisors as the case may be, and are true to the best of my knowledge, in formation and 

belief. 

3. Swiss America Securit ies ltd. (hereafter "SASL" or "the Company") was incorporated in 

the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, pursuant to the Companies Act , 1992, as a limited 

liability company on the 10th September, 2008. SASL was registered on the 26th 



September, 2011, as a Broker Dealer Class II pursuant to the Securities Industry Act, 1999 

and the Securities Industry Regulations, 2000 (both now repealed). 

4. SASl is a registered firm authorized, under the Act, to deal in securities as principal and 

agent, arrange deals in securiti es, manage securities and advise on securities. 

5. SASl was also licensed pursuant to the Financial Corporate Services Providers Act 2000 

on 30 th November, 2011, to provide corporate services to its clients, such as online trading 

and execution services, and custod ial brokerage services. 

6. At all materia l times, Mr. Guy Genti le was the CEO, shareholder and ult imate beneficial 

owner of the SASl and solely responsible fo r the day-to-day operat ions. 

7. Pursuant to Part IV of the SIA, it is within the Commission's regulatory purview, by virtue 

of sections 42-43 and 45 to conduct examinations of all regulated persons. In view of that, 

the Commission, for regulatory purposes, conducts Routine-On-S ite Examinations (" ROS

Exam") and For-Cause-Exam inations ("FC-Exam"). The ROS-Exam involves a general 

review of the regulated person's AMl/CFT Policies and procedures inclusive of risk 

management, AM l training, Reporting of STR's and complaints and KYC/Due Diligence to 

determine compliance or converse ly, areas of identified deficiencies during the RDS

exam. The FC-Exam is a focused examination of all the books and records of the regulated 

person and is normally applied where there are allegations of and/or reasons to suspect 

irregu larities with respect to the regulated person's operations and activit ies. 

8. Sometime in 2015, the Commission was made aware that Mr. Genti le was the subject of 

a probe, both by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("USSEC") and 

the Department of Justi ce ("00 1"), respectively. Mr. Gentile was charged with various 

offences part icularly for penny stock manipulation schemes. Therefore, as a result, the 

Commission conducted a FC-Exam in relation to Mr. Genti le's securities dealings in the 

Bahamas. Now shown t o me is a t rue copy of the sa id USSEC's Complaint marked and 

exhibited as "eRR!". 
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9. During May 2016 the Commission conducted a FC-Exam which revealed numerous 

breaches, inclusive of SASl 's failure to report to the Commission the USSEC's and D01's 

actions. Now shown to me is a true copy of the sa id FC-Exam 2016 marked and exhibited 

as "CRR2". 

10. In 2017, the Commission engaged Ernst and Young to address concerns relative to market 

manipulation. The consequential audit report of 2p! February 2018 was produced. Now 

shown to me is a true copy of the said audit report marked and exhibited as "CRR3". 

11. In an effort to address the various breaches from the FC-Exam 2016, the Commission 

communicated on an ongoing basis with SASl during early 2018 to remediate the said 

numerous breaches and compliance issues. As a consequence, the Commission executed 

a settlement agreement with SASl on 30 th August, 2018 wherein SASl paid a total sum of 

$120,000.00 in fines as a part of the sett lement, and SASL agreed to add ress the 

compliance issues. Now shown to me is a true copy of the said Settlement agreement 

marked and exhibited as "CRR4". 

12. During December 2018, the Commission conducted an ROS-Exam on SASl's operations. 

As a result, further breaches were revealed. Similarly, it was apparent that none of the 

regulatory issues, per the aforesaid settlement, were rectified as SASL had agreed. Now 

shown to me is a true copy of the said on-site-examination marked and exhibited as 

"CRRS". 

13. In 2019 during an investigat ion, the Commission discovered that Mr. Gentile 

incorpora ted a number of unregulated enti t ies bearing the name of Swiss America 

Custody ltd. or Mintbroker International ltd . in various jurisdictions, including Canada 

and the United Kingdom. These entities were used to accept SASl clients' funds as 

opposed to clients' fund being remitted to an account in the name of SASl , the regulated 

enti ty of the Commission. 
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14. The Commiss ion received information that the clients' funds in these accounts were 

transferred to SASl 's operational account at Deltec Bank and Trust ltd. This raised the 

issue of lack of segregation of clients' funds which is contrary to the statutory 

requirements. It also raised the concern of fraudulent activities with in SASl's operations. 

15. Based on SASL's aforesaid failure to satisfy the conditions of the settlement, in 

conjunction with the further breaches in 2018 and the 2019 investigations, the 

Commission decided to meet with Mr. Gentile on 12 September 2019 to address the 

aforementioned issues. 

16. As a result of the September 2019 meeting, the Commission became aware that there 

were many irregularities regarding SASl's activiti es, such as: 

a. SASL characterizes its activity as "trading in principle", however, in the case of 

equities t rading, clients would expect that "as principle", SASl was selling equities 

to clients from its own proprietary inventory. However, such was not the case; 

b. The purchase of securit ies by SASL's clients do not result in those cl ients having 

the securities they believe they have purchased; 

c. SASL's clien ts not having direct market access, but rather SASl would "act as 

principal" for the clients and would pay the difference in securit ies t rades; 

d. Mr. Genti le purported that SASl does not hold any inventory of securities, but 

rather that it is in a "short" position relative to its clients; and 

e. SASL established several unregulated entities with similar names to SASL in foreign 

jurisdictions and had established bank accounts in foreign jurisd ictions and these 

entities were receiving funds on behalf of SASL on terms unknown to the 

Commission. 
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17. Prior to the 12 September 2019 meeting, the Commission was unaware that SASl's cl ients 

operated within an environment so lely dependent upon SASl as opposed to client orders 

being placed directly in the market by SASl. The operational structure means that no 

actual trading is done in the market with respect to the clients' orders. Consequently, 

clients do not own shares, but are of the belief that they own the shares. 

18. This state of affairs is unacceptable to the Commission, and is con t rary to industry 

practice. 

19. The Commission then moved to invest igate Mr. Genti le's description of SASl' activit ies 

and made efforts to halt SASl's operations to prevent exposure to clients due to improper 

trade practi ces. 

20. In view of these findings, pursuant to the Commissions' statutory powers per sect ion 

133{3) of the SIA, the Commission issued Orders via its letter dated 18 September 2019, 

directing SASL to, inter alia, suspend its business for approximately 5 days. Now shown 

to me is a true copy of the said Letter marked and exhibited as " CRR6". 

21. By its letter dated 19 September 2019, SASL admitted to improper trading practices as 

outlined above and once again indicated that SASL was w illing to make changes to its 

operational activity to comply with operational protocols for registered firms. Now 

shown to me is a t rue copy of the said Letter marked and exhibit ed as " eRR7" . 

22. In SASL's letter, SASL implied that it does not segregate its clients' assets as required, per 

Regulation 88 of the Securiti es Industry Regulations, 2012 ("SIR"), as SASl promised to 

"move all client related assets to a segregated account at Deltec Bank in Nassau owned 

by SASl ". As already indicated above, the account at Deltec is an operational account and 

SASl moving clients' funds there would on ly create t he issue of comingling, as aforesaid 

which is contrary to the statutory requirement to segregate. 
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23. SASl's operation as explained by Mr. Gentile is potentially fraudu lent and is misleading to 

its clients who were led to believe that they are involved in trading securities when in fact 

they are trading against a non-existing position, as described by Mr. Genti le in the 

meeting with the Commission. 

24. The Commission's concerns around the nature of SASl's manner of dealings may be 

understood by constructing a fictiona l illustration as follows -

Market price of share A may be trading at $50 per share. 

Via a platform used by SASL, the client performs a purchase of 100 of share A, total 

cost of which is $5,000. 

SASL simulates that the client has purchased the shares, while (it seems) 

unbeknownst to the client, it hasn't. 

Also it seems unbeknownst to the client, the client's funding for its trades are 

directed (per instructions issued to the client by SASL) to a bank account of a 

different entity that has a similar name to SASL, but which is unregulated and 

domiciled in a foreign jurisdiction. It is not clear or yet verified by the Commission 

whether or the extent to which the different entity is owned or controlled by SASL. 

If the client intends to hold shares it thought it purchased for a period, or wants to 

liquidate it and cash out, such that the client's actual ownership of the shares by 

the client must be actualized, then SASL appears to simulate the portfolio volue 

and sale of client shares against prevoiling market market prices. In the case 

where clients require the liquidation of their presumed shares, SASL can only hope 

that the current prices are less than the client had (supposedly) paid for them at 

the time SASL hod simulated that the client hod purchased them. 

If at that later time at which the simulation of the sale of shares are being carried 

out, the shares are then trading lower, say, at $40 per share (given that the client 

had, supposedly, purchased them at $50 per share) SASL would profit from the 

difference, which in the example would be $1,000 for 100 shores. 

However, if the price of the shares were then trading higher in the market, soy, up 

from the $50 per share it was at the time client thought it had purchased to $60 
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per share, then SASL has to spend $1,000 more to actually effect the simulation of 

the safe of shares to the client's account. 

If by chance SASL were faced with having to actualize share sales in large numbers 

for many clients in which the share prices had risen - apart from the apparent 

deception of the clients (if they were unaware of these goings on) - there is risk of 

an inability of SASL to deliver on the sales thereby possibly resulting in insolvency. 

The scheme would unravel. 

Recovery agains t SASL would be complicated by the fact that funds paid by the 

client were never received in to SASL but by the different and unregulated entities 

of foreign domicile. 

25. Therefore, in exercise of its regu latory authority, the Commiss ion issued its aforesaid 

order suspending SASl's operations for 5 days, so as to address the issues outlined above, 

in ter alia, lack of proper trading practi ces, use of unregulated entities and non

segregation of client assets. This short term suspension was to allow the Commission 

sufficient t ime to investigate SASl 's activit ies without being overly disruptive to its 

operations. However, based on Gent ile's description of SASl 's activity, it would have been 

irresponsible of the Commiss ion to allow potentially fraudulent act ivities to continue to 

take place even while an investigation was ongoing. 

26. To assist the Commission's efforts aforesaid, the Commission appointed James Gomez of 

Baker Ti lly Gomez to conduct an audit of SASl 's financia l transact ions, inclusive of 

banking, trading and client records. 

27. Accordingly, on 19th , 20th and 23 rd September 2019, the Commission sought to enter 

SASl 's premises to conduct the said investigat ion and obtain relevant information for 

review, but were unable to perform any review because, wh ile initially appearing to 

cooperate, SASl did not provide what the Commiss ion requested. 

28. To date the Commission is not in receipt of the requested information. 
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29. Instead of cooperating with the Commission, SASl made an ex-parte application for 

Judicial Review on the 23 September 2019, one day before the Commission's suspension 

expired and without ever complying with the Commission's request . SASl also received 

an Order vacating the Commission's regulatory orders and directives. 

30. The orders granted by the Supreme Court has fu lly disabled the Commission from further 

invest igat ions of these matters in relation to SASl's activit ies. Now shown to me is a true 

copy of the said Order fil ed 23September 2019 marked and exhibited as lIeRR8". 

31. On 3 December 2019, SASl informed the Commission of its intent to vo luntarily wind up, 

although section 73 of the SIA mandates that a registrant seek the Commission's approva l 

to volu ntarily wind-up its operations. However, SASl , without seeking the Commission's 

approval, purported to communicate to the Commission its uni lateral decision to 

vo luntarily wind-up SASl. Now shown to me is a t rue copy of the said letter marked and 

exhibited as "CRR9". 

32. The Commission on various occasions, through its correspondences of 19th November 

2019, 10th December 2019, and 11 tn December, 2019, informed and directed SASl that 

any approva l of SASl's voluntary surrender of its registration would be subject to 

condit ions. 

33. Therefore, the Commission, in it s 10th December 2019 letter, informed and directed SASl 

that any approva l of SASl 's vo luntary surrender of registration would be subject to SASl 

providing: 

a. Provide a complete t ransaction history of all activity on the IB brokerage accounts 

for the period beginning 1st June 2019 up to the closure of the IB accounts; 

b. Provide a full reconci liation of all client accounts held with SASl , whether or not 

they are/were held with IB, for the period beginning 01 June 2019 up to the 

closure of the IB accounts; 
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c. Submit to the Commission its audited financial statements which are currently 

outstanding for the years ending 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018; 

d. Provide a detailed plan (as approved by the directors) for winding up SASl's 

operations, including, but not limited to, details of any clients who could not be 

contacted or where there were any issues dosing any client's account; 

e. Submit all of the above items listed (a) through (d) to the Commission by Tuesday 

31 December 2019; and 

f. Upon items (a) through (d ) above having been provided, submit the remaining 

outstanding registration certificates for-

• Guy Gentile; 
• Edward Cooper; and 
• All other registered personnel for whom SASl received registration 

certificates. 

Now shown to me are true copies of the said letters marked and exhibited as <leeR 10" , 

respectively. 

34. To date, despite the numerous requests from the Commission, SASl, has failed again to 

comply w ith and/or provide all of the requested informat ion . 

35. By its letter dated 4th February 2020, the Commission formally advised SASl that by 

reason of its failure to provide all required information and SASl's current non· 

operat ional status, the Commission will immediately suspend the registration of SASl and 

seek a court supervised winding up to ensure the protection of SASl 's clients, investors 

and creditors in the w inding up process. Now shown to me are true copies of the said 

letters marked and exhibited as "eeR 11" . 

36. It is paramount that the Commission protect the welfare of investors and/or clients as 

well as to maintain the in tegrity of the Bahamas' securities and investment markets. 

Therefore, the Commission seeks orders to prevent any further or any potential harm to 

SASl's cl ients. 

Page 9 0r 12 



37. In the circumstances I submit and confirm that the Commission has determined that it is 

in the public interest and the interest of SASl's clients to have SASl subject to a court

supervised winding up, and I further submit that a provisional liquidator should 

immediately be appointed to protect the company pending the hearing of the Petition . 

38. That the contents of this Affidavit are true and correct to the best of my knowledge 

information and belief. 

SWORN TO in the City of Nassau 

This 5th day of March, A.D., 2020 

} 

} 

BEFORE ME, 

~c 
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COMMONWEALTH OF THE BAHAMAS 

IN THE SUPREME COURT 

Commercial Divi sion 

IN THE MAnER of the Companies Act, 1992 

AND 

2020 

COM/com/ 

IN THE MATTER of an Appl ication under the Securiti es Industry Act, 2011 

AND 

IN THE MAnER of MINTBROKER INTERNATIONAL lTD. (FORMERLY SWISS AMERICA 

SECURITIES LTD.) T/A SURE TRADER Swiss America Securit ies, a Regist ered Securiti es Firm. 

CERTIFICATE 

These are the Exhibits marked " eRR 1" through "eRR 11" referred to in the Affidavit of 

Christ ina R. Rolle fi led herein and dated the 5th day of March, 2020. 

Before Me, 
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Counsel of Record: 
ANDREW M. CALAMARI 
Regional Director 
Attorney for the Plaintiff 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
New York Regional Office 
Brookfield Place. 200 Vesey Street. Suite 400 
New York. New York 1028 1 
(212) 336- \ 023 (Brown) 
Emai l: BrownN@sec.gov 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
---------------------------------------------J( 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION. 

Plaintiff, 

-against-

GUY GENTILE, 

Defendant. 
-----------------------------------------------------x 

16 Civ. ( ) 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission"), for its Complaint against 

Defendant Guy Gentile ("Gentile") (who, upon information and belief, resides at 103 Bryant 

Pond Road. Putnam Valiey. New York. 10579). alieges: 

SUMMARY 

l. This case involves two penny stock manipulat ion schemes perpetrated by Gentile. 

The first scheme was perpetrated in 2007 and involved the stock of Raven Gold Corporation 

("R VNG"), a purported gold and silver exploration company. The second scheme was 

perpetrated in 2007-2008 and involved the stock of Kentucky USA Energy, Inc. C'KYUS"), a 

company involved in naturaJ gas production. In add ition to market manipulation and fraudulent 

promotion, the schemes involved illegal unregistered offerings of the issuers' stocks, and, 



together, generated over $17 million in illegal gross stock sale proceeds as well as substantial 

profits for the schemes' participants. 

2. In the RVNG scheme, two penny stock promoters from Toronto, Canada, Mike 

Taxon and Itamar Cohen ("Taxon" and "Cohen," respectively), were hired to promote RVNG 

stock by the persons who controlled the company in exchange for a controlling block of the 

company's purportedly unrestricted shares. Taxon and Cohen then recruited Gentile, the owner 

ofa broker-dealer based in upstate New York, to execute key aspects of the promotion in 

exchange for half of their newly-acq uired RVNG shares. 

3. Gentile agreed to the arrangement, and manipulated the market for RVNG stock 

by placing trades and trade orders that created the false appearance of liquidity, market depth, 

and demand for the stock. 

4. Ln addi tion. Gentile, together with the Taxon and Cohen, created and distributed a 

glossy promotional "newsletter" touting R VNO stock (the "RVNG Mailer"). The RVNG Mailer 

contained multiple materiaUy false or misleading statements or materially misleading omissions, 

including, among other things, statements or omissions about the promoters' identity, 

compensation, and control of the issuer' s stock. 

5. Finally, to increase the appearance of active market demand for the stock, Gentile, 

Taxon and Cohen bribed friends and acquaintances to make open-market purchases of RVNG by 

handing out free blocks of RVNG stock to them. 

6. Ln the KYUS scheme, Gentile was recruited to promote the stock by the 

individuals who controlled the issuer, and then invited Taxon and Cohen to participate and help 

finance the scheme, in exchange for a share of the ultimate profits. Genti le used his own funds 

and the funds provided by Taxon and Cohen to obtain control of a substantial block of the 
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company's purportedly unrestricted shares and used proceeds from the ill egal unregistered sales 

of the stock to finance the promotion. 

7. As in the RVNG scheme, Gentile manipulated the market for KYUS stock by 

executing manipulative trades intended to create the false appearance of liquidity and market 

demand. by, among other things, executing matched trades between multiple accounts that he 

controlled. Once again, Genti le, together with Taxon and Cohen, fabricated from who le cloth 

and distributed a fake promotional newsletter, the " KYUS Mai ler." Just like the RVNG Mai ler, 

the KYUS Mailer contained multiple materially false or misleading statements or materially 

misleading omissions, includ ing, among other things, statements and omissions about the 

promoters' identity, compensation, and control of the issuer's stock. 

8. Because Gentile obtained RVNG and KYUS stock [rom the persons controlling 

the issuers, with a view to se lling it to the public, Gentile was a statutory underwriter under the 

Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act''), and his unregistered sales of tbe stock violated the 

securities registration req uirements of the Securities Acl. 

9. In addition, by engaging in these schemes, Genti le violated the anti-touting and 

anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act and violated or aided and abetted violations of the 

anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"). 

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING AND RELIEF SOUGHT 

10. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conlerred upon it by 

Section 20(b) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(b), and Section 2 1(d)(I) of the Exchange 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(I), seeking a final judgment: (n) permanently restraining and enjoining 

Gentile from engaging in the acts, practices and courses of business alleged herein; (b) requiring 

Gentile to d isgorge hi s ill-gotten gains and to pay prejudgment interest tbereon; (c) imposing 
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civi l money pena1ties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and 

Section 2 I (d)(3) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3); and (d) permanently prohibiting 

Gentile from participating in any offering of penny stock pursuant to Section 20(g) of the 

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(g), and Section 21(dX6) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

78u(d)(6). 

.JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

II. The Court hasjurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b) and 22(a) of 

the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 77v(a), and Sections 21(d) and 27 of the Exchange 

Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and 78.a. 

12. Venue Hes in this District pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 77v(0), and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa. Some of the acts, 

practices, courses of business and transactions constituting the violations alleged here in occurred 

within the District of New Jersey. For example, Genti le sold unregistered RVNG and KYUS 

securities and executed manipulative trades in those securities, in part, through broker-dealers 

located in the District of New Jersey, and using trading systems operated through servers in the 

District of New Jersey. 

13. Gentile, directly or indirect ly, made use of the means or instruments of 

transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or of the mai ls, or of a facility of a 

national securities exchange in connection with the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged herein . 
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DEFENDANT 

14. Gentile, age 39, resides in Putnam Valley. New York. At the time of the conduct 

alleged herein, Gentile resided in Mahopac, New York. Gentile is the founder and, at the time of 

the conduct alleged herein, was the owner of a Commission-registered broker-dealcr located in 

Carmel, New York. Over the years, Gentile has been the principal of multiple securities-related 

businesses in addit ion to his registered broker-dealer, including, most recently. a Bahamas-based 

online brokerage firm, which Gentile opened in 20 11 . 

ISSUERS 

15. RVNG was a Nevada corporation. During the scheme alleged herein, RVNO's 

headquarters were in Vancouver and Penticton, British Columbia, and its common stock was 

quoted on the OTe Bulletin Board ("OTCBB") and was a "penny stock" as that tenn is defined 

in Section 3(aX51) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78e(8)(51), and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder, 17 

C.F.R. § 240.3.5 1-1. 

16. KYUS was a Delaware corporation headquartered in London, Kentucky, During 

the scheme alleged here in, KYUS represented that it was engaged in shale gas expiomtion in 

western Kentucky. During the scheme alleged herein, its common stock was quoted on the 

OTCBB and was a "penny stock" as that term is defined in Section 3(aXSJ) of the Exchange 

Act, 15 U.s.C. § 78c(.)(51), and Rule 3a5 1-1 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.385 1-1. 
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FACTS 

I. THE RVNG SCHEME 

A. RVNG's Corporate Background 

17. RVNG was incorporated in Nevada in or about February 2005, under the name 

Riverbank Resources, Inc. In its public filings, the company claimed that it was in the business 

of mineral exploration. In reality, however, the company was a shell created and controlled by a 

British Columbia attorney engaged in the business of creating and selling shell companies. 

18. In Apri1200S, the company conducted two unregistered offerings ofa total of 

7.424 million shares of its common stock under Regulation S. Tbe individuals who received the 

stock in the offerings, including the company's purported officers and directors, were nominees 

orlhe attorney who had created the shell, and not true owners of the stock. 

19. [n or about July 2005, the company filed with the Commission a registration 

statement on Form SB-2, purporting to register the resaJe of3.424 million shares held by 

individuals other than the company's purported officers and directors. The registration statement 

became effective in or about September 2005. 

20. Sometime between September 2005 and approximately August 2006, a pair of 

penny stock promoters from Canada (the "RVNG Owners") bought the Riverbank Resources 

shell from the attorney who had created it. Subsequently, to effectuate the sale, the original 

nominee shareholders transferred their shares to the R VNO Owners' various designees, 

including, in 2007, Gentile, Taxon and Cohen. These transfers were nol directed by the 

shareholders themselves; instead, the individuals who controlled the issuer - first, the attorney 

who had created the shell and then the RVNG Owners - directed all the transfers. 
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2 1. In or about August 2006, the company. now controlled by the RVNG Owners, 

changed its name to Raven Gold Corporation, carried out a 5:1 stock split, and announced a 

change in management. In September 2006, the company announced that it had "decided to 

discontinue" mineral exploration at its British Colwnbia property. In or about March 2007, 

RVNG carried oul a 2: I split of its common stock. 

22. As a result of the stock splits in 2006 and 2007, as well as additional restricted 

stock issuances directed by the RVNG Owners during this time period, during the stock 

manipulation scheme alleged below, RVNG had approximately 75 million shares of common 

stock issued and outstanding, of which approximately 34 mi llion shares were traceable to the 

April 2005 Regulation S offerings and purportedly covered by tbe subsequent resale registration 

statement, the goal of which was to make the shares appear unrestri cted. 

23. In or about March 2007, RVNG common stock began trading on the OTCHB 

under its new symbol, "RVNG." 

24. During the stock manipulation scheme alleged below, the RVNG Owners had 

complete control of RVNG and its management. 

B. T he RVNG Stock Promotion Deal 

25. In early 2007, the RVNG Owners met Taxon and Cohen through a common 

acquai ntance and proposed that Taxon and Cohen promote RVNG stock. Taxon and Cohen then 

reached out to Gentile and invited him to participate in the "deal." 

26. In lhe course of the fo llowing few weeks, the RVNG Owners agreed to give 

Taxon and Cohen a large block of p urportedly unrestricted RVNG shares in exchange for a stock 

promotion campaign consisting of a promotional mailing, other advert ising, and manipulative 

trading that wou ld create the fal se impression of liquidity and acti ve interest in the stock. In 
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turn, Taxon and Cohen agreed that Gentile would help them execute the key aspects of the 

promotion, including the advertising campaign and the manipulative trading, in exchange for a 

portion of Taxon and Cohen's cut of the stock. Gentile, Taxon, and Cohen also agreed that they 

would sell a portion of their RVNG stock holdings to finance the upcoming advertising 

campaIgn. 

27. To put these plans in motion, between mid-May and mid-June 2007, the R VNO 

Owners directed transfers of eigbty percent of RVNG's purportedly unrestricted stock 

(approximately twenty-seven million shares) to accounts controlled by Gentile, Taxon and 

Cohen. Of that amount, approximately twenty million shares, represented Gentile 's and Taxon 

and Cohen's compensation, and the remaining, approximately seven mi llion shares, was parked 

in an offshore account under Taxon's control for the duration orlhe promotion - a tenn that 

Taxon and Cohen negotiated with the RVNG Owners, to ensure that the RVNG Owners would 

not se ll large quantities ofRVNG stock behind Genti le, Taxon and Cohen' s backs, and thus 

undermine Gentile, Taxon, and Cohen's efforts to drive up the stock price and sell shares at a 

high price. 

28. To obscure their connection to and control of the majority of the purportedly 

unrestricted RVNG stock, Gentile, Taxon, and Coben did not deposit their RVNG stock in U.S.

based accounts held in their own names. Instead, the share blocks were deposited in U.S. 

brokerage accounts held in the names of several offshore brokerage finns where Genti le, Taxon 

and Cohen had or controlled accounts. 
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C. Manipulative Trading and Fraudulent Promotion of RVNG Stock 

29. On receiving their blocks of R VNG shares, Gentjle, Taxon and Cohen embarked 

on a promotional campaign for the stock, which consisted of manipulative trading, a promotional 

mailer, and advertisements placed in multiple news publications. The R VNG Owners, for their 

part, supported the promotion by ensuring a steady stream of positive company press releases. 

1. Manipulative Trading aDd Kick-Back'i 

30. In June and July 2007, Gentile and Taxon directed maJupulative trades in RVNG 

stock. Their RVNG stock trading in June and July 2007 was intended to achieve two primary 

goals. First, Gentile and Taxon sold RVNG stock to generate cash to fund the promotional 

mailing and advertising that would follow in July 2007. Second, Gentile and Taxon traded 

RVNG stock between their various accounts in order to create the false appearance of liquidity 

and active interest in the stock - ill substance, an attractive (but fake) price and volume history 

for investors who would be researching the stock after seeing the upcoming promotional mailer 

or advertisements. 

31. To amplify the false appearance of increased liquidity and market interest in the 

stock, Gentile, Ta.xon and Cohen reached out to their acquaintances among penny stock traders 

and promoters and offered to provide free blocks ofR VNG stock as kick-backs for open market 

purchases ofRVNG stock. Some of those offers were accepted. For example, on or about July 

19,2007 and August 20, 2007, Taxon and Cohen transferred blocks of5,OOO and 25,000 RVNG 

shares, respectively, from one of their offshore accounts to the accounts of one of Gentile's 

acquaintances. That acquaintance bought approx.imately 101 ,500 shares of RVNG in the open 

market in June and July 0[2007, and sold all of his RVNG shares - those received as a kick-back 
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and those bought in the open market - by early September 0[2007, making a profit of 

approximately $25,600. 

2. The RVNG Mailer and Media Advertisements 

32. The centerpiece of the R VNG promotion was the R VNG Mai ler - an eight-page 

glossy "newsleucr" touting RVNG stock that Gentile, Taxon, and Cohen distributed in mid-July 

2007 under a fake entity name, "Stock Trend Report." 

33 . The RVNG Mailer contained multiple material1y false or misleading statements, 

as Genti le, one of its authors, knew or was reck.1ess in not knowing. For example, the mailer was 

purportedly published by an entity named "Stock Trend Report" and claimed to be a July 2007 

"Special Edition of Premium Members." In reality, Stock Trend Report was an entirely fictional 

name created spec ifically for the RVNG campaign, with no prior or subsequent "editions." 

34. Additionally, the RVNG Mailer's cover page claimed that RVNG stock had been 

"seen on" CNBC, Bloomberg, in the Wall Street Journal, the New York Times, and in other 

respected news publi cations, creating the impression that the stock had been a subject of 

reporting in those publications. In reality, the stock had only been "seen" in those publications in 

paid advertisements placed by Gentile, Taxon and Cohen. 

35. These misstatements were material because they lent the RVNG MaiJer an aura of 

legi timacy and reliability. and helped conceal the fact that it was an advertisement placed on 

behalf of and in coord ination with the RVNG Owners. 

36. The RVNG Mailer also touted the stock's "strong move upward" in "recent 

weeks," which the RVNG Mailer attributed to the company's strong business prospects. A chart 

covering the ti me period from early May to mid-June of2007 purportedly showed the stock's 

"remarkable uptrend so far." These statements were materially misleading. The RVNG Mailer 
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failed to disclose that a substantial portion of the touted market activity consisted of the trades 

placed by Gentil e, Taxon, and those acting in concert with them, which were executed for the 

very purpose of creating an attractive price and volume history for the stock, not because of 

legitimate, independent market interest. 

37. The RVNG Mailer's last page conta ined a warn ing: "Please note: Due to high 

market demand for RVNG by institutional investors, some brokers may require you to phone in 

your order." This statement was materially false: No "high market demand for RVNG by 

institutional investors" existed. 

38. The RVNG Mailer contained a fine-print disclaimer that purported to disclose the 

compensation received by the mailer's publisher and the publisher's motivations and intentions 

with respect to the stock. The disclaimer was itself materially false and misleading. 

39. For example, the disclaimer continued to attribute the R VNG Mailer to "Stock 

Trend Report," a nonexistent entity. 

40. The disclaimer also stated that the company, R VNG, had "not approved the 

statements made in this opinion." In reality, the RVNG Owners, who controlled the company 

and its management, had seen drarts of the mailer and had signed offon its content. 

41. On the subject of compensation, share ownership, and intent to se ll with respect to 

R VNG stock, the disclaimer stated that Stock Trend Report (called "STR" in the di sclaimer) 

"has been compensated by third party shareholders or with cash from the company on behalfof 

one or more of the companies mentioned in this opinion ... for dissemination of this 

advertisement and other professional services .... STR's affiliates, officers, directors and 

employees may also have bought or may buy the sbares discussed in thi s opinion and may profit 

in the event of a rise in value." 
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42. These statements were materiall y false or misleading, as Gentile knew or was 

reckless in not knowing. Stock Trend Report was a nonexistent, fictional enterprise. Moreover, 

the compensation that Gentil e, Taxon and Cohen had received for the "dissemination of this 

advertisement" and oilier promotional efforts, including the manipulative trading, consisted of 

s ixty percent ofRVNO's purportedly unrestricted stock - and the mailer itself was financed with 

the proceeds from the sale of that stock. The disclaimer that Stock Trend Report "may have 

bought" or "may buy" RVNO shares was also misleading, as most of Gentile, Taxon and 

Cohen's shares had been received at no cost and had already been partiall y liquidated to finance 

the promotional campaign. 

43. In July 2007, Gentil e, Taxon and Cohen also placed paid advertisements for 

RVNG in multiple major publications. The advertisements were, in substance, condensed 

versions of the RVNG Mailer and contained many of the same material ly false or misleading 

statements, including the attribution of the advertisements to the nonexistent Stock Trend Report, 

the misleading louting of the stock's recent performance, and a disclaimer identical to that in the 

RVNG Mailer. 

44. Gent ile closely collaborated with Taxon and Cohen in the creation and 

distribution of the RVNO Mailer and the R VNO advertising materials. Gentile knew or was 

reckless in not knowing that the RVNG Mailer and the advertisements contained the materially 

false or misleading statements as alleged above. 

3. Press Releases 

45. It was understood anlong the R VNG Owners and Taxon and Cohen that, for the 

RVNO stock promotion campaign to succeed, the issuer should disclose a string of "positi ve 

12 



events" during the promotion. Thus, throughout June and July 2007, the RVNG Owners 

supported the stock promotion campaign with a steady stream ofRVNG press releases. 

46. RVNG issued a total of thirteen press releases during thi s time period: five in 

Jlme and eight in JUly. Of those thirteen releases, five announced purported arrivals of new 

officers and directors, and the remaining eight vaguely touted purported developments in 

RVNG's exploration business, such as plans to "commence general exploration at La Currita, 

Mexico, within the next 21 days," the commissioning of a "detailed L Phase 1 Exploration 

Program' at La Currita." receipt of certain initial sample results, and discovery of a "New 

Paral lel Mineralized Vein Structure." The RVNG Owners, Gentile, Taxon and Cohen 

coordinated the timing and number of these press releases, and the press releases were intended 

to and did support the ongoing market manipulation scheme conducted by Genti le, Taxon and 

Cohen. 

47. By taking the steps described above, Gentile, Taxon and Cohen successfully 

manipUlated the market for RVNG stock. Unti l May 31, 2007, RVNG traded at prices not 

exceeding $0.80 per share and with minimal volume, with no trading occurring on many days. 

Starting on May 31, 2007, the daily price and especially the daily volume went up dramatical ly 

only to decline as soon as the promotion was complete. The swnmary chart below demonstrates 

the dramatic manipulative effect of the promotion on the market for RVNG stock. 
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Time Period Average Daily Daily Closing Daily Clos ing Average Price 
Volume Price - Low Price - High 

Before Promotion 40.372 $0.6 1 $0.85 $0.72376 

3/6/07 - 5/30/07' 

During Promotion 2.090.667 $0.83 $1.73 $1.32 158 

5/31107 - 7/3 1107 

After Promotion 148.833 $0.57 $1.24 $0.89907 

811107 - 12/31107 

• Starling after 2:1 stocksplil and receipt o/new symbol RVNG.OB. 

48. Because Gentile, Taxon and Cohen obtained RVNG stock from the persons 

controlling the issuer, with a view to selling it to the public, each was a statutory underwriter 

under the Securities Act. YCI no registration statement was filed or in effect with rcspect to their 

sales ofRVNG stock. 

49. The selling of unregistered RVNG stock by Gentile, Taxon and Cohen generated 

an estimated five million dollars in gross proceeds. 
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II . THE KYUS SCHEME 

A. KYUS Corporate Backeround 

50. KYUS was incorporated in Delaware in or about September 2006, under the name 

Las Rocas Mining Corp. ("Las Rocas"). In its public fi lings, the company claimed that its 

"principal business plan was to acquire, explore and develop mineral properties and to ultimately 

seek earnings by exploiting the mineral claims." In fact, the company was a shell fonned and 

controlled by its purported founder (who was also its sole officer and director) and his relatives 

(together, "KYUS Shell Sellers"). 

51. In March 2007. the company filed with the Commission Form S8-2. a registration 

statement covering a purported public offering of one million common shares, at $0.025 per 

share, for tOlal offering proceeds 0[$25,000. The registration statement became effective in or 

about June 2007. The one million shares covered by the registration statement were sold in or 

about June 2007 to friends and acquaintances of the KYUS Shell Sellers. These friends and 

acquaintances were mere nominees of the KYUS Shell Sellers, and at all relevant limes, the 

KYUS Shell Se llers retained control over the shares. 

52. After the purported public offering, the company had three million common 

shares issued and outstanding: two million restricted shares, previously issued to Las Rocas' 

sole officer and director, and one million purportedly unrestricted shares distributed in the June 

2007 offering and controlled by the KYUS Shell Sellers. 

53. On or about October 15,2007, as alleged in greater detail below, Adam S. 

Gottbetter, a New York microcap lawyer ("Gottbetter"), arranged the purchase of the Las Roeas 

shell from the KYUS Shell Sellers for $760,000 contributed by Gentile, Taxon, Cohen, and 

Gottbener's business partner in the KYUS deal ("Gottbetter's Partner"). 
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54. Shortly thereafter, on or about October 26, 2007. Las Rocas announced that it had 

changed its name to Kentucky USA Energy, [nc., and that it was in merger di scussions with a 

private company called KY USA Energy, Inc. ("K YUS Privco"); the merger ultimately closed 

on May 2, 2008. 

55. to late November 2007. and pre-merger, the newly renamed KYUS effected a 

12: I stock split, after which the company had 36 mi llion shares issued and outstanding: 24 

million restricted shares held by its purported founder and 12 mill ion purportedly unrestricted 

shares that, as a result of the she ll purchase described in detail below, were controlled by Gentile 

(together with Taxon and Cohen), Gottbetter. and Gottbetter's Partner. 

56. On or about November 20, 2007, the KYUS common stock began trading on the 

OTCBB under its new symbol, "KYUS." 

B. The KYUS Stock Promotion Deal 

57. In the summer of2007, Gottbetter and Gottbetter's Partner became acquainted 

with Gentile and invited him to participate in the K YUS "deal ." Over the course of mUltiple 

meetings and conversations, it was agreed that Genti le, working with his partners (faxon and 

Cohen), would ( I) "build the chart" for the KYUS stock - that is, create seemingly attractive 

price and volwne history for the stock by means of manipulative trading; (2) di stribute a 

promotional mai ler touLing the stock, including its seemingly favorable price and volume history; 

and (3) fund the promotional mai ling with proceeds from selling KYUS stock in the open 

market. Jt was further agreed that, for the purpose of perpetrating this scheme, Gottbetter would 

arrange for Gentile to obtain control of a substantial block of purportedly unrestricted KYUS 

stock. 
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58. Genti le, in turn, invited Taxon and Cohen to participate in the "deal." UnJike the 

RVNG Owners, who provided unrestricted RVNG stock to Gentile, Taxon and Cohen at no cost, 

Oottbetter insisted that Gentile and his partners purchase KYUS stock in private transactions for 

$604,000. Taxon and Cohen agreed to split this upfront cost with Gentile and transferred 

$300,000 to Gentile for use in the deal. Genti le then transferred Taxon and Cohen's $300,000 

and an additional $304,000 from his own offshore accounts to Gottbetter as payment for seventy

five percent of KYUS's purportedly unrestricted common shares. The remaining twenty-five 

percent of the purportedly unrestricted shares were transferred to Gottbetter and GOllbetter's 

Partner. 

59. As in the RVNG scheme, in the KYUS scheme, Gentile, Taxon and Cohen's 

allocation of the purportedly unrestricted KYUS stock was directed to accounts in the names of 

nominee entities ("Nominee Entities"), rather than to accounts held in their own names. By 

depositing their shares in the Nominee Entities' accounts - in this case, accounts of three 

offshore and one domestic brokerage finns - Genti le, Taxon and Cohen obscured their 

cOlUlect ion to the stock and the upcoming market manipulation. 

C. ManipulaHve Tradinc and Fraudulent Promotion of KYUS Stock 

60. Similar to the R VNG promotion, the KYUS promotion had two components: 

manipulative trading, which began in November 2007, and a promotional mailer, which Genti le 

created and distributed in May 2008, shortly after the merger of the KYUS shell with KYUS 

Privco. 

6 \. Immediately after receiving their KYUS shares into the Nominee Entities' 

accounts in late 2007, Gentile, Taxon and Cohen began "building the chart" for KYUS stock, in 

preparation for the distribution of the promotional mailer and the ultimate sell-off that they 
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executed in May 2008, once the promotion worked to inflate the stock's price. Gentile, Taxon 

and Cohen controlled seventy-five percent of the public float, and on many days between late 

2007 and May 2008, most and sometimes even all of the market activity in the stock was 

generated by accowlts that they controlled. 

62. Among other things, Gentile executed matched trades between the Nominee 

Entities' aecowlts and accounts in the names of Gentile's friends and family members that 

Gentile controlled. Gentile also asked some of his acquaintances among penny stock traders to 

buy KYUS stock in the open market (in substance, from Gentile), based on the understanding 

that Gentile would be promoting the stock and would give his "buyers" a heads-up about the 

upcoming promotion, enabling them to sell the stock at a high price. At least two of Gentile' s 

acquaintances agreed and purchased KYUS stock in the open market in advance of the 

promotion, and then sold it during the promotion at a profit. 

63. 111c matched trades and the efforts to "bring in buyers" described above had the 

same twin goals. First, KYUS stock sales generated the cash that Gentile would later use to fund 

the KYUS promotional mai ling. Second, through these actions, Genti le was delivering on bis 

promise to "build the chart" for the KYUS stock, by creating the fa lse appearance of broad 

market demand and gradually inflating the price. 

64. In or about May 2008, shortly after the KYUS merger closed, Gentile distributed 

by mail a glossy promotional mailer touting K YUS. The promotional mailer took the fonn of an 

eight-page "newsleuer" distributed under the fake name Global Investor Watch. The mailer 

touted K YUS stock' s seemingly attractive - but contrived - recent stock price history and 

claimed, falsely, that it had been funded by a $2.4 million payment from a fictional entity called 
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Green Century Capital. in fact, Genti le funded the KYUS Mailer with proceeds from selling his, 

Taxon and Cohen's allotments of KYUS stock. 

65. Gentile took the lead role in creating and distributing the KYUS Mailer, and he 

knew or was reckless in not knowing that the KYUS Mailer contained materially false or 

misleading statements, including false attribution, as alleged above. 

66. The manipulation and fraudulent promotion of KYUS stock were successful. 

Between latc 2007, when the scheme began, and May 2, 2008, the day of the KYUS merger, the 

stock price rose from $0.69 per share to $1.70 per share. Once the mailer had been disseminated, 

the stock price soared in May 2008, reaching $3.97 all May 23, 2008. The volume also 

increased dramatically. While all all but one day before May 9, 2008, dai ly trading volume was 

below 100,000 shares, on each day between May 14 and June 2, 2008, the daily volume was over 

one million shares, and it reached a high of over 4.4 million shares on May 23, 2008. 

67. By the end of May 2008, Gentile, Taxon and Cohen had sold millions of the 

purportedly wuestricted KYUS shares that they had received into the Nominee Entities' accounts 

in late 2007, for estimated gross proceeds of approximately $10 million. They used a portion of 

these proceeds to fund the printing and distribution of the KYUS mailer, and they shared the 

remaining proceeds with the issuer and Gottbetter. 

68. Gottbetter and Gottbetter's Partner, for their part. also sold substantiaJ portions of 

their KYUS stock holdings both during the promotion and thereafter. Gottbetter continued 

selling KYUS stock through November 2010, and Gottbetter's Partner continued selling KYUS 

stock at least through November 2009. Gottbetter and Gottbetter's Partner sold their K YUS 

stock holdings in whole or in part through offshore accounts. Genti le had access to and ability to 
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execute trades in at least one of those accounts, and he assisted in the execution of some of these 

subsequent sales ofKYUS stock. 

69. Because Gentile, Taxon, Cohen, Gottbetler, and Gottbetter's Partner had obtained 

K YUS stock from the persons controlling the issuer, with a view to selling it to the public, each 

was a statutory underwriter under the Securities Act. 

70. No registmtion statement was filed or in effect with respect to the KYUS stock 

sales of Gentile, Taxon, Cohen, Gottbetter, and Gottbetter's Partner. 

FIRST CLAIM .FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Sections Sea) and S(c) of the Securities Act 

71. Paragmphs 1 through 70 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. 

72. By virtue of the foregoing, Gent ile, directly or indirectly. singly or in concert with 

others, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate 

commerce, or of the mails, to offer and sell securities through the use or medium of a prospectus 

or otherwise, or carried or caused to be carried through the mai ls or in interstate commerce, by 

any means or instruments of transportation, securities for the purpose of sale or for delivery after 

sale, when no registrati on statement had been filed or was in effect as to such securities and 

when no exemption from registration was applicable. 

73. By virtllc o rthe foregoing, Gentile violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, 

will continue violating, Sections 5(a) and 5(e) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) & (c). 
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violulions of Section 17(b) of the Secur ities Act 

74. Paragraphs I through 70 are incorporated by reference as if set forth fuHy herein. 

75. By virtue afthe foregoing, Gentile, by the usc of means or instruments of 

lrHl1sportation or communication in interstate commerce, or of the mails, published, gave 

publicity to, or circulated notices, circulars, advertisements, newspaper articles, letters, 

investment services, or communications which described securities for consideration received or 

to be received, directly or indirectly. from an issuer, underwriter, or dealer, without fully 

disclosing the receipt, whether past or prospective, of slich consideration and the amount thereof. 

76. By virtue of the foregoing, Gentile violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, 

will continue violating, Section 17(b) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(b). 

T HIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 17{a} of the Securiti es Act 

77. Paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated by reference as ii set forth ful1y herein. 

78. By virtue of the foregoing. Gentile, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with 

others, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate 

commerce, or of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities: (I ) with scienter, employed devices, 

schemes, or artifices to defraud; (2) obtained money or property by means of untrue statements 

of material fact or omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements 

made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (3) 

engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as a 

fraud or deceit upon the purchasers. 

79. By virtue of the foregoing, Gentile violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, 

wi ll continue vio lating, Section 17(a) of tile Securities Act, 15 U .S.c. § 77q(a). 

2 1 



FOURTH CLA IM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section IO(h) of the Exchane:c Act and Rule lOb-S Thereunder 

80. Paragraphs 1 through 70 arc incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. 

81 . By virtue of the foregoing, Gentile, direct ly or indirectly. singly or in concert with 

others, in connection with the purchase or sale oCa security. with scienter, used the means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of a fac ility of a national securities 

exchange: (1) to employ devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (2) to make untrue statements 

of a material fact or to omit to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements 

made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (3) to 

engage in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or 

deceit upon others. 

82. By virtue of the foregoing, Gentile violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, 

will continue violating, Section 1O(b) ofthc Exchange Act, 15 U .S.C. § 78j(b), and Ru le 101>-5 

thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240. t Ob-5. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Aid ing and Abetting Violations of Section lOeb) 
of the Exchange Act and Rule lOh-S Thereunder 

83. Paragraphs 1 through 70 are incorporated by reference as if sct forth fully herein. 

84. By virtue of the foregoing, Genti le, directly or indirectly. provided knowing and 

substantial assistance to persons who, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of a security, wi th scienter, used the means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mai ls, or of a facility of a national securities 

exchange: ( I) to employ devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (2) to make untrue statements 

of a material fact or to omit to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements 

made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, nol misleading; and (3) to 
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engage in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or 

deceit upon others, 

85. By virtue of the foregoing, Gentile aided and abetted and, unless restrained and 

enjoined, will continue aiding and abetting, violations of Section lOeb) of the Exchange Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, in violation of Section 

20(e) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court enter a Final 

Judgment: 

I. 

Permanently restraining and enjoining Gentile, his agents, servants, employees, attorneys 

and other persons in active concert or participation wi th him who receive actual notice of the 

injunction by personal service or otherwise, from violating Sections 5(0), 5(c), 17(a) and 17(b) of 

the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(0), 77e(c), 77q(a) and 77q(b), and Section 100b) of the 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule IOb-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.\Ob-5. 

II. 

Ordering Gentile to disgorge his ill-goUen gains received as a result of the conduct 

alleged here in, plus prejudgment interest thereon. 

III. 

Ordering Gentile to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and Section 21(dX3) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3) . 
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IV. 

Permanently prohibiting Gentile from participating in any offering of penny stock 

pursuant to Section 20(g) ofule Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(g), and Section 21 (d)(6) of the 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(6). 

V. 

Granting such other and further relief as this Court deems just and appropriate. 

Dated: fl7.,,~ 23,2016 
New York, New York 

Of Counsel: 
Lara S. Mehraban 
Thomas P. Smith, Jr. 
Nancy A. Brown 
Simona K. Sub 

JmWi',\IWEXl~ANGE COMMISSION 

By: >""'~*.~:?-<'7='=~ 
amari 

Regional Director 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Brookfield Place, 200 Vesey Street 
New York, New York 10281-1022 
(2 12) 336-1023 (Brown) 
Anorney for Plaintiff 
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LOCAL CIVIL RULE 11.2 CERTIFICATION 

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 11 .2, I certify that the matter in controversy alleged against 

Defendant Gentile in the foregoing Complaint is not the subject of any other civil action against 

Gentile pending in any court, or of any pending arbitration or administrative proceeding. 

A related civil case involving the Commission's claims against Adam S. Gottbetter 

arising out of the KYUS scheme (SEC v. Gotlbetler. et aI., 15-CV-3S28 (JLL» was filed in this 

Court in 20 15 but is nowcIosed. 

A retated civil case involving the Commission's claims against Mike Taxon and ltamar 

Cohen arising out of the RVNG and KYUS schemes (SEC v. Taxon, et al.; 15·CV·3S87 (JLL» 

is pending before the Court and is currently stayed pending the resolution oftbe parallel criminal 

eases (United States v. Taxon, 15·CR- 0249 (JLL), and United States v. Cohen, IS-CR-0248 

(ILL», which are also pending before this Court. 

Of Counsel: 
Lara S. Mehraban 
Thomas P. Smith, Jr. 
Nancy A. Brown 
Simona K. Suh 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

By: ~)-
Andrew M . Calamari 
Regional Director 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Brookfield Place, 200 Vesey Street 
New York, New York 1028 1-1022 
(2 12) 336-1023 (Brown) 
Attorney for Plaintiff 



DESIGNATION PURSUANT TO LOCAL CIVIL RULE 101.1(0 

Per the requirements of Local Civil Rule 10 I. 1 (f), the undersigned hereby designates the 

United States Attorney for the District of New Jersey to receive service of all notices or papers in 

this action at the following address: 

Of Counsel: 
Lara S. Mehrabao 
Thomas P. Smith, Jr. 
Nancy A. Brown 
Simona K. Sub 

Chief, Civil Division 
United States Attorney's Office 
District of New Jersey 
970 Broad Stree~ Ste. 700 
Newark, New Jersey 07102 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

By: 
Andrew M. Calamari 
Regional Director 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Brookfield Place, 200 Vesey Street 
New York, New York 1028 1-1022 
(212) 336-1023 (Brown) 
Attorney for Plaintiff 



To : 

CC: 
From : 

Date: 

Re: 

SECURITIES COMMISSION OF THE 'AHAMAS 

INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT 

INTEROffiCE MEMORANDUM 

E1cecutive Director - Ms. Christina Rolle 
Enforcement Committee 
Manager, Inspections Department - Ms. lesley Pea rson 
2S May 2016 
Inspect ion for Cause - Swiss America Securities Limited 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

The Inspections Departmen t was instructed by the Executive Director and the Enforcement 
Department in a meeting on 2 May 2016 to conduct an Inspection For Cause of Swiss America 
Securities limited ("SASl") or !"the company" ), to exam all the books and records of SASl, its clients 
and related parties. 

The fi eld work of the Inspection for Cause of $ASl began on 4 May 2016 and ended on 23 May 2016. 
The examination was conducted at the Registrant's office located at Elizabeth on Bay Plaza, Sui te 17, 

Bay Street, Nassau, Bahamas. 

2.0 BACKGROUND OF THE INSPECTION FOR CAUSE 

The Securities Commission of The Bahamas (NCommissionH) received allegations of Irregularities in the 

operat ions of SASL which was cause for concern. SASL CEO and Director, Guy Gentile was charged by 

the Securities and Exchange Commission for penny st ock manipulation schemes. However, SASL did 

not advise the Commission of the charges against Guy Gentile; therefore, is in breach of Regulation 
S3(2)(W of the Securities Industry Regulations, 2012. In addition, SASL failed to meet its statutory 

reporting obligations and submission of outstanding documents and fees. 

See Appendix A for SEC Court Indictment and a complaint from a confidential informant on SASl 

failure on performing proper due diligence on clients and lack of basic corporate governance. 

3.0 BACKGROUND OF SASl: 

Swiss America Securities Ltd. ("SASL" or " the CompanY') was incorporated in the Commonwealth of 
The Bahamas under the Companies Act 1992, as a limited liability company on 10 September, 2008. 

SASL was licensed with th e Securities Commission of The Bahamas ("the Commission
H

), as a Broker 
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Dealer Class II, on 26 September, 2011, pursuant to The Securit ies Industry Act, 1999 (now repealed) 
and the Securities Indust ry Regulations, 2000 ("the Regulations" ). Pursuant to the Securities Industry 
Act, 2011 ("the Act"), SASl is currently licensed as a registered firm, author ized to Deal in Securiti es 
as Principal and Agent, Arrange Deals in Securities, Manage Securities and Advise on Securities. The 
Company was also licensed under the Financial and Corporate Service Providers Act, 2000 ("FCSPA") 
on 30 November, 20U to provide corporate services to its clients. 

SASl 's business activities include the following: 

;, Online Trading and execu tion services; 
;, Custodial services; 
:0- Brokerage account services; 

4.0 OBJECTIVE OF THE INSPECTION FOR CAUSE 

The objectives of the inspection for cause were to review SASl 's operations in regards to the following: 

:0- Operational Syst ems and Controls; 
:0- Anti-Money laundering (AMl) / Counter Terrorist Financing: 

a Compliance Officer (CO) / Money l aundering Reporting Officer (MlRO) Duties; 
o Customer Due Diligence / Know You r Customer; 

o Suspicious Transaction Reporting; 
o large Cash Transactions; 
a Complaints; and 
o AMl Training and Monitoring System 

~ Reporting Obligat ion t o t he Commission 
~ Segregation of Clients' Assets from SASl's financial affairs 
:0- Other Matters 

o Risk M onitori ng of Client Accounts 
o Books and Records 

This report will detail factual results found onsite, offsite, and inquiries with SASl key personnel. 

5.0 SCOPE OF THE EXAMINATION 

The scope of the examination was 1 January 2012 - 30 April 2016. It was communicated by Antonio 
Collie - President/ Chief Financial Officer/Director, that SASl has a total of 17,076 accounts; however, 
no documents provided ascertained that number. Documents provided to the Commission confirmed 
SASl client base as 13,323 cl ient accounts. The dient population sampled varied across t esting the 
areas. 

6.0 EXAMINATION RESULTS: 

OPERATIONAL SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS 

ASSETS UNDER CUSTODY 

6.1 During the inspection, SCB E)Caminers obtained and analyzed the Assets under Custody 
IAUC) of SASl for the period 1 January 2012 - 31 March 2016. As the AUC are reported on a 
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quarterly basis, examiners obtained only the 1" Q in 2016. It was revealed that the company 
provides services on a non-discretionary basis for both corporate and individual clients and 
has AUC totaling S9,763,856 as at 31 March 2016 as noted below: 

6.1a Examiners further noted that SASl was unable to segregate the provided AUC listing 
between individual and corporate accounts. Upon inquiry, Mr. Antonio Collie 
(President/CFO/Director) informed examiners that SASl was in the process of uploading all 
client information into its elect ronic software Internat ional Back Offi ce System Software 
(IBOSS) and as a result, client information was not readily available. Further, senior 
management of SASl gave examiners contradictory information on the number of client 
accounts SASl currently serviced. Upon inquiry, Ms. Janay Symonette (Chief Marketing 
Officer) inform ed examiners that this inconsistency was due to the system not taking into 
account inactive client accounts. 

~;1: · .• ~nill. : .... ~ ... . .• 
AUC IBOSS By Client Type 

Number of Client 17,076 13,265 13,159 

See Appendix B for various Client Listings provided. 

6.1b SASl experienced a steady incline in client accounts during the period under review 
resulting in fl uctuations varying from 12% to 32% during January 2012 - June 2015. Examiners 
noted tha t while SASl continued to experience growth in client accounts after June 2015; the 
fluctuation was below the 10% threshold. As the number of SASl 's cl ient accounts increased, 
the value (S) of client accounts also increased. However, during the following periods: 

:> September 2012, 
:> September · December 2013, 
);- September 2014 and 
;;.. June - December 2015 

SASl experienced a decline in the value (S) of accounts despite the rising number of clients. 
The decline I value was attributed to unfunded and/or inact ive trading/brokerage accounts as 
well as existing clients withdrawing funds. It is SASl policy to give clients thirty days to provide 
funding before the account status is changed to inactive. 

See Appendix B f or SASl's Asset Under Custody Analysis 
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INVESTMENT HOLDINGS OWNED BY SASl 

6.2 SASL 31 December 2014 audited financial statements noted investments totaling 
$3,033,447 which comprised of equities, exchange traded funds, fi xed income and exchange 
traded notes. Examiners obtained a detailed l ist ing of the type of investments held by SASL 

Examiners noted that the AF5 reflected an Exchange Traded Funds balance of $505,907; 
however, the custodian statement provided reflected a balance of $505,996.50 (a difference 
of $89.50). Upon inquiry, Mr. Collie Informed examiners that 5A5L was unaware of the 
inaccuracy on the AF5 and are not alarmed as the difference is trivial. 

See Appendix C for SASl's Investment Listing and Custodian Statement 

MEMORANDUM AND/OR ARTiClES OF ASSOCIATION I RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 

6.3 Mr. Antonio Collie (President/CFO/Director) revealed there were no amendments to the 
Memorandums of Association of Swiss America Securities ltd (SASL) neither to the nature of 
issued capital of SASL However, there were changes made to the Articles of Association and 
to the rights and obligations of SASL security holders. 

6.3a The following was noted during a review of the below documents regarding the above 
stated: 

a. Articles and Memorandum of Association - Examiners reviewed the Articles and 
Memorandum of Association on file at the Commission to the Articles and 
Memorandum of Associat ion on file at SASL and noted that there were no changes 
made to the Memorandum of Association of SASL; however, Art icle 4 of the Articles 
of Association was amended and Article 4A inserted. 

Article 4 - "the shores sholl be under the control of the Directors, who may allot or 
otherwise dispose of the some to such persons on such terms and conditions and at 
such times as the holder of the majority of the shores thinks fit ." 

Article 4A - "No shores of a closs of shores may be issued unless the shores have first 
been offered to the shareholders of the compony holding shores of that closs; and 
those shareholders have a pre-emptive right to acquire the offered shores in 
proportion to their holdings of the shores of that closs at such price and on such terms 
as those shores are to be offered to others." 

b. Boord of Directors Meeting Minutes - Examiners reviewed the Board of Directors 
Meeting Minutes and Directors Resolutions for 2008 - 201S and noted that on the 18 
December 201S; the Directors of SASL resolved to amend the Articles of Association. 

c. Risk Assessment Brie! - Market Surveillance Department's Risk Assessment Brief 
indicated that SASL has made changes to the Articles of Association. 

See appendix D for Amended Articles of Association 

lPl 'RICOIABINBI Prepared by the Inspections Department Page 4 



See appendix D for Directors Resolution 
See appendix D for Board of Directors Meeting Minutes. 

6.3b Via a letter dated 27 January 2016 SASL advised the Commission of the amendments to 
the Articles of Association as at 18 December 2015. The Commission requested further 
documentation via letter on 10 March 2016 whi ch was provided on 17 March 2016. On 18 
April 2016, the Commission issued a no objection letter to SASL in relation to the amended 
Articles of Association dated 18 December 2015; however, SASL did not receive prior written 
consent as per the legislative requirement. 

See appendix D for the Commission's No Objection letter. 

l egislation 

Regulation 55(a) Securities Industry Regulations. 2012 Transaction Affecting Financial 
Resources 

A registered firm sholl obtain the prior written consent of the Commission before: 

(0) seeking to reduce or change the nature of its issued capitol or the rights and 
obligations of its security holders 

SASL did not obtain prior written consent of the Commission before amending its Articles of 
Association on 18 December 201S. 

Recommendation 

SA5l must obtain prior written consent of the Commission before changing the rights of its 
security holders. 

PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY INSURANCE 

6.4 To ensure that the registrant has submitted its current insu rance policy to the Commission 
with the renewal of its registration. {Regulations 43 (3) of the SIR, 2012} 

6.4a A review of Swiss America Securities Ltd.'s (SASL) Indemnity Insu rance Policy revealed 
that SASL's insurance appears to be appropriate to the size, complexity and nature of the firm 
to cover at least professional indemnity and fidelity bondmg. 

Examiners noted that the policy note comprised of the following: 

~ Policy Holder: Swiss America Securit ies Ltd 
~ Policy Type: Financial Instit ution Professional Indemnity 
)- Policy Period : 26 November 2015 - 26 November 2016 
> limit of Liability: $1,000,000 
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6.4b A review of the 2015 Annual Information Update Form (AIUF) submitted by SASL on 13 
January 2016 did not include the details of SASL current insurance policy to the CommissIon 
with the renewal of its regist ration. 

Examiners noted that SASL subsequently submitted the details of the firm's Insurance Policy 
to t he Commission on 05 April 2016 after the legislative deadline of the 31 of January of each 
year. 

See appendix E for Annual information update Form. 

legislation: 

Securities Industry Regulation, 2012 - Regulation 43 f31 - Insurance 

43 (3) A registered firm shall deliver to the Commission, with the application for renewal of its 
registration, current details of the insurance policies held by the firm. 

Breach (es): 

SASL did not deliver to the Commission the current details of the Insurance Policy held by SASL 
with the application for renewal of its registration on or before the 31 of January of each year 
as per the legislative requirement. 

Breach 

Recommendation Is}: 

SASl must deliver to the Commission the current details of the Insurance Policy held by SASl 
with the application for renewal of its regist ration on or before the 31 of January of each year 
as per t he legislative requi rement. 

ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING fA ML) I COUNTER TERRORIST FINANCING 

COMPLIANCE OFFICER I MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING OFFICER 

6.5 To ensure the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) and/or Compliance Officer (CO) 
is sufficiently senior within the organil0tion with unrestricted access to directors, books and 
records. 

6.Sa SASL has a registered Compliance Manager/MlRO, Mr. Philip Dorsett along with an 
Acti ng Chief Compliance Offi cer Mr. Edward Cooper. Inquiry with both individuals and review 
of the organizat ional chart revealed that Mr. Dorsett currently reports to Mr. Cooper - the 
acting Chief Compliance Officer. However, both Mr. Cooper and Mr. Dorsett report to Mr. 
Antonio Collie (President/CFO/Director) and Mr. Guy Gentile (CEO/Director). Further 
discussions held with Mr. Cooper revealed that his role in the organizat ion is only t emporary 
as his position on the organizational chart indicates (Acting Chief Compliance Manager). Mr. 
Cooper, at this point in t ime is therefore deemed more senior in his role than Mr. Dorsett and 
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we do note that Mr. Dorsett resigned as a Director and as such, some elCposure as a senior 
management official may be limited. 

The appearance is present that Mr. Dorsett is sufficiently senior within the organization, 
however after a review of seventy-seven (77) cl ient account opening files and no evidence of 
review or approval from Mr. Dorsett, we deem it reasonable to state that he is not sufficiently 
senior in his role as a registered CO/MlRO within the organization and may have limited 
access to all books and records, customer due diligence files and related correspondence fi les. 
furthermore, Mr. Dorsett himself vaguely elCpressed to elCaminers his concerns of not having 
full unrestricted access to these elements. 

See appendix F for Philip Dorsett Warning letter. 

REVIEW FREQUENCY AND RISK RATING FRAMEWORK 

6.6 To ensure the Registrant has on Anti-Money Laundering (AML) risk based approach to 
monitoring facilities. 

6.6a SASL compliance manual notes t hat all client accounts are reviewed periodically as 
follows: 

;. Low Risk· reviewed as the need arises 
;. Medium Risk - reviewed every 3 to five yea rs 
)- High Risk - reviewed annually 
:0- PEPs - any and all PEP accounts should be classi fied High Risk and shall be subject to 

continuous monitoring. 

6.6b SASl has utilized OFAC (Office of Foreign Assets Control) as a global system check on 
performing further due diligence on clients, however, Mr. Edward Cooper noted that he does 
not have 100% confidence in the system and prefers t he use of World Check. Mr. Edward 
Cooper then informed examiners tha t prior to his commencement with the organizat ion 6July 
2015 as a Compliance Consultant, which was subsequently changed to Acting Chief 
Compliance Officer effective 1 November 2015 to current, there were no r isk reviews 
performed on clients. A sample of seven ty-seven (77) client fi les revealed fifty-nine (59) client 
accounts not containing evi dence of a review conducted by either Mr. Philip Dorsett, 
Compliance Officer or Mr. Edward Cooper (Acting Chief Compliance Officer). The risk rating 
of cl ient accounts ca me into effect January 2016. 

Further, we discovered that certain risk areas were not addressed in assessing the r isk profife 
of each customer relationship until amended account opening forms and policies and 
procedures were introduced in late 2015 by M r. Edward Cooper, Acting Chief Compliance 

Officer. 

SASl was not complaint with ensuring the source of business funding, the type of assets and 
t he level of t ransactions were identified on the client account opening documents. This was 
evident on Sixty-three (63) client fi les of the seventy-seven (77) client fi les sampled. In 
addition, evidence of the Complexity of Ownership & Legal Structure were also not identified 
for one (1) corporate client sampled. 
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See appendix G for account opening form 1 & 2 for Individuals & Companies (Old Form). 
See appendix G for revised account opening form (January 2016). 
See appendix G for risk rating reviews (SCB) & spreadsheet (SASL) . 

legislation 

Anti·Money l aundering and Countering the Financing of Terrorism Rules, 2015 - Rule S (I) 

(2)(a)(c - e) - Requirements for r isk rating framework 

A regulated person's risk rating framework shall-

1. A regulated person sholl assess the risk profile of each new customer relationship or 
product prior to estoblishing a business relationship with the customer or issuing the product. 

2. (a) Ca tegorize customer relationships ond products so thot the level of risk associated with 
each customer relationship or product is identifiable; 

(c) Establish the level of management able to approve the regulated person entering 
into customer relationships at the various levels of risk rating cotegories 

(d) Estoblish Know Your Customer and due diligence information requirements 
appropriate for the risk profile of the customer relationship or product 

(e) Require the periodic review of the customer relationship or product to -
i. Ensure that the categorizations are current and appropriate 
ii. Enable the regulated person to determine whether any adjustment should 
be made to the risk rating 

SASL did not assess the risk profile of each new customer (lOW, medium, high) prior to 
establishing a business relationship with the customer. SASL began (isk rating its client after 
Mr. Cooper's commencement with the organi zation in late 2015. 

Recommendation 

SASL must ensure file reviews are conducted as in accordance with the legislation. 

l egislation 

Anti-Money laundering and Countering the Financing of Terror ism Rules. 2015 - Rule 5 (2) -
Requirement for risk rating framework 

A regulated person's risk rating framework sholl -

(b) Categorize customer relationships and products to take account of risk factors related to the 
particular customer relationship or product including -

iii. Complexity 0/ ownership 
iv. Complexity of legol structure 
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v. Source of business 
vi. Typeo/ assets 
viii. Level of cosh transactions 

SASl did not identify the below when on-boarding new clients: 

Ii) So",," of Bu'ine»I'"ding; Type of A»elS . nd Level of C"h T"n,,,tion, 
were not clearly identified and indicated for t hose cl ients selected who were 
initially on-boarded. 

(ii) Complexity of Ownership & legal Structure not clearly identified and 
indicated for corporate clients initially on-boarded. 

Recomm endation 

SASl must ensure that the following information is obtained and clearly identified when on
boarding new cl ients: 

~ Source of Business/Funding; Type of Assets; l evel of Cash Transactions 
;, Complexity of Ownership & Complexity of l ega l Structu re (Corporate Cl ients) 

l egislation 

Financial Transaction Reporting Regulation - 9(2) - Continued Verificat ion of Accounts 

Financial Institutions sholl monitor facility holders for consistency with the facility holders 
stated account purposes and businesses and the identified potential account activity during 
the first year of operation of the facility. 

Although an AMl monitoring system was established in late 2015 (after Mr. Edward Cooper's 
commencement with the organi zation ), t here was no evidence of t his being periormed prior 
and as such the registrant fai led to comply with legislation. 

Recommendation 

The Regist rant must ensure adherence with the legislation as it requires all accounts to be 
monitored to prevent money laundering and to ensure consistency with the facility holders 
st ated account purposes. 

JURISDICTION 

6.7 To determine if the Registrant conducts business in other Jurisdictions and ifche registrant 
has considered the reputation of that institution and jurisdiction. 
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6.701 Swiss America Securities conducts business with instit utions in other jurisdictions (both 
businesses and clients of the registrant). We confirmed with management and per review of 
the Compl iance Policies and Procedures Manual that an Integral part of the risk rating criteria 
established in 2015 is to consider the reputation of both institution and Jurisdiction. 

6.7b However, per review of t he Domicile spreadsheet presented to examiners by Antonio 
Collie (President/CFO/Director), Afghanistan was listed as a country of domicile for clients 
they conduct business with, which indicates they may have not fully considered the reputation 
of the jurisdictions that SASl conducts busi ness with. This ca n also be attributed to line staff 
approving client acceptance before Mr. Coopers position with the SASL When inquired with 
Mr. Philip Dorsett, Compliance Officer if the reputation of this jurisdiction was considered, he 
confirmed via email that t he account (PFS15086) related to this jurisdiction was set up only as 
a "test Demo". 

See appendix H for jurisdiction listing provided by President/CFO!Director Mr. Collie 
(Domicile Spreadsheet). 
See appendix H for email correspondence from Philip Dorsett (Domicile Email). 

6.7c A review of the incomplete client listing provided by SASl noted that the account balance 
was listed at $·0· with no proper address and as such appears to be a "test demo". Other than 
the information received, there is no other evidence to validate the claim of the test demo 
account. SASl should consider using other client coding t o differentiate between " test demo" 
and actual client accounts. 

CUSTOMER DUE DILIGENCE! KNOW YQUR CUSTOMER 

6.8 To ensure that the Registrant maintains client account opening/arms and documentation 
for each client and the registrant has token reasonable steps in identifying the clients and 
keeping the in/ormation required up to dote. 

6.801 In 2014, SASllaunched an online trading platform entitled Sure Trader (a division of Swiss 
America) that allows clients to log onto the online platform and execute trades on their own 
behalf in real time. 

Potential clients would apply online via Sure Trader's website (www.suretrader.coml and 
complete a three part process t o apply for an account. The process includes selecting an 
accoun t type (Individual, Joint, Trust or Corporate), completing the online application form, 
and reviewing and confirming their understanding t o SASl's agreements (General Client 
Agreement, l etter of Authorization, Securities Markets Risk Di sclosure, US/Non-US Person 
Status Declaration, Unsolicited Acknowledgement Agreement and Identity Declaration Form). 

Upon completion of the online account application process, SASl's Compliance Department 
awaits a due diligence package to begin the vetting process. The required due diligence 
documents include: 
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1 2 valid colour photo IDs: passport and driver's license or government issued 
identification card 

3 

i i • i 

Proof of residency (utility bill, bank or brokerage statement, etc. w ith your address 

Due to recent legislation (FATCA), Swiss America Securities, ltd. now requires every 
cl ient to submit either a W-SBEN for NON-U.S. Individuals, or W-8BEN-E for NON
U.S. Entities or W -9 for u.s. Individuals & Enti t ies. 

Upon receipt of the prospect documents, the Accounts Department personnel will submit the 
file to Compliance for complete file review, and the verification of the name(s) against the 
"OFAC" (Office of Foreign Assets Control) as a global system check on performing further due 
diligence on clients. The client's KYC fife may be supplemented with additional information 
such as Internet search results, newspaper and magazine articles as well as advertisements 
and bu siness cards. 

6.Sb A review of seventy-seven (77) client files sampled, revealed that all customer accounts 
forms were signed by customers. In addition, t he fallowing was noted: 

). Eleven (11) files that did not contain the relevant proof of identity (i.e. passport & 
driver's license); 

}:- Fifteen (15) files identified where the client's proof of address was not obtained. The 
address was, however, indicated on the account opening form 

5ee appendix I for KYC test ing spreadsheet~ 

6.Sc During a review of t he files, examiners noted the below eleven (11) client accounts that 
was not listed on 5A5l client account listing provided to examiners. 

2 

Individual 

5 

7 Travers Nil 
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Not included in the overall 
cl ient listing provided by the 

The Client file did not have 
an account number assigned 
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overall client listing provided 

by t he Registrant . 
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8 Tatenda Tabula NIL Individual 

A latin Pro Trading, 
9 lle NIL Corporation ,. Morgan Buban NIL Individual 

11 Mehmet Dnur NIL Individual 

In light of the Information noted above at 6.8c, examiners requested SASl management to 
provide client Information such as tradi ng and cash summary reports to ascertain that these 
clients do exist. 

6.8d Client files opened prior to Edward Cooper's (Acting Chief Compliance Officer) 
commencement to SA$l reveal ed that there was no evidence of review or approval by Mr. 
Philip Dorsett, Compliance Officer & MlRO with regards to client acceptance. A review aftne 
KYC checklist only indicated a signature by SASlline staff. Out afthe 77 cl ient accounts tested, 
only 18 showed proper review and approval by the Client Acceptance Committee, which 
comprises of Mr. Cooper and/or Mr. Dorsett. Evidence of the review and approval process 
has also since been transitioned to IBOSS. 

See appendix J for client accept ance committee form and I for KYC Checklist . 

6.8e Examiners obtained internal email correspondence dated 11 November 2015 with 
reference to a named individual luis D. Amaro and his desperate desi re to trade. Information 
was also obtained that gave l ight to Amaro being hospitalized 17 - 25 May 2011 for major 
depressive disorder, severe post-traumatic stress disorder. In light of the information noted 
above, examiners reviewed SASl client listing from inception to current and discovered that 
Luis D. Amaro was a client of SASL with the client number PFS02637. A review of SASl records 
confirmed that Amaro became a client of Swiss in mid·2013 (June) with a deposit amount of 
$2,895. However, SASlstili deemed it necessary t o accept Amaro as client after due diligence 
revealed his medical history with severe depression and his desperate desire to succeed as a 
stock trader. In addition, it appears suspicious as examiners reviewed emait correspondence 
with SASl advising Amaro they are unable to accept him as a client, despite trading records 
and cash history proving otherwise. 

See appendix K for email correspondence w ith Luis De Amaro. 
See appendix K for luis De Amaro medical records. 
See appendix K for lu is De Amaro cash and t rading history. 

legislation 

Securities Industries Regulation, 2012 168 (1)(2)(3)] • Client account opening form and 
documentation 

(1) A registered firm must maintain account opening documentation/or each client. 

(2) No registered firm sholl execute any transaction for a client until it has in its possession a 
'e/ient account form' executed by the client and approved by the designated officer of the firm. 
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(3) The client accoun t form sholl contain information concerning the client's identity, financial 
status, employment, education, investment objectives, ability to incur risk, status os on insider 
to any publiC issuers, and any other informa tion that may be considered reasonable by the firm 
in making on investment recommendation to the client 

SASl did not maintain account opening documents for all cl ient files. 

All new accounts should be approved by management, either by Philip Dorsett (Compliance 
Officer) or Mr. Edward Cooper (Acting Chief Compliance Officer) in order to properly execute 
t ra nsactions on behalf of clients. This was not evidenced on client files prior to t he 
commencement of Mr. Edward Cooper in 2015. 

SASl did not obtained proof of identity for all clients, which as prescribed by legislation. 

Recommendation 

SASl must ensure that all new accounts are approved by either Philip Dorset (Compliance 
Officer) and or Edward Cooper (Acting Chief Compliance Officer) in order to properly execute 
t ransactions on behalf of their cl ients. 

SASl must ensure that proof of identity has been obtained for all clients. 

The regis trant must ensure that all account opening documents are maintained on client files. 

COMPLAINTS 

6.9 To determine if client complaints or unusual matters are maintained in a central register 
and responded to in a timely manner as prescribed legislation. 

6.9a It was evident through inquiry and review of SASl operations, that SASl does not 
maintain a centralized customer complain t log. Examiners were provided with a complaint 
log that has been recently started and cu rrently maintained by Alexis Delancy, Supervisor 
Customer Support Center (CSC). As complaints can be received and resolved by any 
individual/department of SASl , examiners were presented with a listing only from two 
individuals and as such the complain t log presented may not be comprehensive of SASl 
complaints. To ascertain the above statement, it was noted that Kelly Kramp (PFS02675) was 
not list ed on the complaint log. However, examiners discovered email correspondence 
between SASL management and the client, in addi tion to the complaint received by the 
Commission, where the client alleged that, during the week of 10 August, 2015, options 
t rading was halted within the Company and as a result cl ients lost a substantial amount of 
money. The deficiency in not maintaining a Central Register/Log may prevent SASL from 
compiling and resolving all complaints and unusual circumstances in a timely manner. 

6.9b Examiners were provided a complaint log with thirty-four (34) clients from Alexis Hanna, 
esc Supervisor, however, only obtained the support for twenty (20) cl ient complaints. Of the 
twenty (20) tested, there were two (2) complaints whereby, examiners were not able to 
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determine whether a proper response was submitted within fourteen (14) days. All other 
complaints sampled were in compliance with legislation. 

See appendix l for customer complaint log. 
See appendix l for compliant filed with the Commission (Kramp 1,2,3,4). 
See appendix l for customer complaint testing. 

legislation 

Securities Indust ries Regulation. 2012 (75) - Complaints 

A registered firm shall establish effective complaints handling systems and procedures that 
ensure that 

(a) adequate records of complaints, including a central register, are established and 
maintained; 

(b) all complaints are responded to in writing within 14 days of receipt of the 
complaint; ond (e) each complaint is effectively and fairly resolved. 

SASLdoes not maintain a cent ralized customer complaint log and the proper support to show 
evidence that a response is submitted to all client complaints within fourteen (14) days. The 
Customer complaint log provided is that which has been recently started and maintained by 
Alexis Delancey, Supervisor Customer Support Centre, however, customer complaints or 
queries can be received and resolved by any other department within the organization. 

Recommendation 

SASl must ensure that they maintain a centralized customer complaint log and the proper 
support to show evidence that a response Is submitted to all client complaints within fourteen 
(14) days. The defiCiency in maintaining a Central Register/ l og may prevent the Registrant 
from compiling and resolving all complaints and unusual circumstances in a t imely manner. 

TRADING 

6.10a During a review of the trading operations and the risk monitoring of client margin 
accounts perform by the risk team, the following was noted: 

);. Report does not show who prepared and or reviewed the risk analysis report 
~ The report appears to be incomplete as the required objectives are not selected 

proving that the work was performed 
);. No manager sign off 

A significan t amount of clients with negative equity balances due to trading losses which 
presents a Significant r isk to SASl not being able to recover losses since most of the clients opt 
to let accounts be deact ivated rather than inj ect ing addit ional funds to cover such losses. 
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As noted in the external auditor's BOO Chartered Accountants 12-31-2014 management 
comment letter to SASL, higher limits should be set on the amount of trades a client can place 
base on their equity balance. 

SASL should ensure this area is well monitored by the risk analysis team to possible reduce 
the amount of negative balances In client accounts. 

6.10b A review of SASl trading department operations, along with inquires made of the 
department, it was revealed that Michael Bain as the Trade Desk Manager is not currently 
registered with the Commission as a t rading representative. Examiners noted that in the 
capacity of a managerial role, possibilities can occur that ca n put Mr. Bain in situations to act 
as a registered trading representative in assisting clients. During a walkthrough of SASL 
trading operat ions, no evidence was obtained to support the claim of Mr. Bain conduct ing 
trades on client's behalf and not registered with the Commission. 

See appendix P for Michael Baln Job Description 

Legislation 

Securities Industry Regulation. 2012 74 121ib} Supervision. compliance and risk 
management systems 

A registered firm must establish, maintain and apply a system of controls and supervision 
sufficient to-

(b) manage the risks associated with its business in conformity with prudent business 
practices. 

SASL did not ensure that the risk monitoring report objectives were completed and signed off 
indicating that the work has been performed. 

Recommendation 

SASL must ensure that the risk monitoring reports are completed and signed to ensure a 
system of controls and supervision sufficient to manage the risks associated with its business. 

REPORTING OBLIGATIONS TO THE COMMISSION 

6.11 Determine if the registrant is compliont with its reporting requirements to the Commission. 
[Regulation 17, 49 - 50, & 91 a/the SIR lOll} 

6.11a Examiners confirmed that SASL did not file its quarterly filings interim financial st atements and 
Financial and operational report Form 13 within the Umeframe prescribed; therefore, not satisfying 
the Commission's requirements . The following was confirmed by the Market Surveillance Departmen t 
IMSD}, 
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6.llb SASL was not compliant in submitting its interim financial reports for quarters 1, 2, 3 or 4 of 
2015. 

, As it relates to the 01 2015 interim reports which was received 26 May 2015, the 
Commission imposed a penalty of $700.00 for t he period 19-25 May, 2015. The penalty 
fee was received on 12 June, 2015. Furthermore, SASL was not complaint with its 

certification regarding reconciliations and segregation requirement of Division 2 of part VII 
of the regulation for 01 of 2015. 

, As it relates to Q2 2015 late fi ling of the interim reports which was received 29 March 
2016, the Commission imposed a penalty of $6,000.00 for the period 28 October, 2015 -
28 December, 2015. To date, the Commission is not In receipt ofthe request . 

, SASl Q3 2015 late filing of the interim reports was received 29 March 2016, after the 
prescribed time frame of October 30th, 2015. 

Jot SASL Q4 2015 late fil ing of the interim reports was received 16 March 2016, after t he 
prescribed t ime frame of January 30th, 2016. 

Jot As it relates to 01 of 2016 interim reports, 5ASl request ed an extension, however that 
extension has not been granted and is pending correspondence between SASl 
management and The Commission on the previous penalty imposed in 2015. 

6.11e SASl was not compliant in submitting the information setout in Form 13 of Schedule 2 (Financial 
& Operational Report) for quarters I, 2, 3 and 4 of 2015 and 01 of 2016. 

6.lld The Market Surveillance Department provided a Risk Assessment Brief indicating that Mr. Guy 
Gentile was charged with perpet rati ng penny stock manipulation schemes by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on 23 March 2016. In addition, The Enforcement Department provided an e
mail correspondence indicating that t he department was aware of t he regulatory action being taken 
against Mr. Guy Gent ile by the SEC. 

Upon inquiry; Mr, Antonio Collie (President/CFO/Director) informed examiners that Swiss America 
Securities ltd (SASL) is aware that Mr. Guy Gentile was charged with perpetra ting penny stock 
manipulation schemes by the Securities and Exchange Commission. However, the Commission was 
not notified of such by SASl. 

l egislation 

Securities Industry Regulation. 2012 62 (l)(b) - Notice Of Change Of Information - After Registration 

(1) A registered representative of a registered firm shall promptly deliver a notice to the Commission 
and the registered firm if that representative: 

(b) is named as a defendant or respondent in any criminal or regulatory proceeding or any civil 
proceeding, either domestic or foreign, exceeding twenty-five thousand dollars 
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A registered representat ive of SASl did not inform the Commission that the Securities and Exchange 
Commission charged him with perpetrating penny stock manipulation schemes in the amount of 
$17,000,000. 

Recommendation 
A registered representative o f SASl must promptly deliver a notice to the Commission if that 
representative is named as a defendant or respondent in any cri mina l or regulatory proceeding or any 
civil proceeding, either domestic or foreign, exceeding twenty-five thousand dollars. 

RECONCILIATIONS 

6.12 To ensure reconciliations are being performed and differences (if any) ore corrected immediately. 
(Regulatfon 87 of the SIR, 2012J [Regulation 20(1) (0) (b) of the SIR, 2012J 

6.12a Examiners selected reconciliat ions for t he months ending February, June, December 2014, and 
May 2015 to ensure that reconciliations were being performed in accordance with t he legislations. 

,. On balances with banks on a monthly basis 
~ On its own records of client assets (with account able statements for Custodians) 

6.12b SASL does not perform bi-monthly reconciliations of its records of client assets for which it is 
accountable with the statemen ts reconciliations of its client assets wi t h t he custodian statements for 
Checkbook Inc. 

6.12c In addition, Danielle Romer - Assist ant Financial Controller is responsi bl e for reconciling all 
accounts in a t imely manner. It was noted during an interview with Ms. Romer, that there is a back 
log in the reconciliations being prepared for the 2015 period on some of the accounts. The 
reconciliat ions do note the preparer however, a review by management is not indicated on the 
reconciliations prepared. Mr. Collie is responsible for reviewing all reconciliations for accuracy. 

See appendil( M for late reconciliation preparation. 

l egislation 

Securities Industry Regu lat ions, 2012 - Regulation 87 (1)(a)(illc)fml - Reconci liations 

87. (1) A registered firm sholf perform re-conciliations as often as necessary to ensure the accuracy 
of its records, and sholl perform reconciliations -

Breach lesl : 

(0) At least once every month -
a. On all balances with banks; 

(c) at least twice per mon th-
(iii) on its records of client assets for which it is accountable with 

statements obtained/rom the custodian. 
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5A5l is not performing reconciliations at least twice per month on its records of client assets for which 
it is accountable at the custodian. 

Recommendation: 

5ASl must ensure reconciliations of its record of client assets for which it is accountable with 
statements obtained from the custodian are performed at least twice per month as prescribed by 
legislation. 

SEG REGATION OF CLIENTS ASSETS 

6.13 To determine if the company holds clients' assets and that the assets are separate and apart/rom 
its own. (Regulation 88 of the SIR, 2012) 

baminers review of the company's accounts, operating systems and inquiry of management, revea led 
that SASl maintains its assets in segregated bank accounts from that of its clients' accounts. 

A review of SASl's accounts and interna l systems revealed the following: 

~ SASl has one (1) Bahamian dollar (BSO) operating account with Bank of The Bahamas B$ 
account # - AlC NO. - BSD -1350003824 with an ending balance of $20,783.85 as at 31 March 

2016; 
,. SASl one (1) fi)(ed deposit with British Caribbean Bank with a balance of $1,030,000 as at 31 

December 2015; 
~ SASl has twelve (12) other operating firm bank accounts as listed below: 

Citibank N.A SAS (UK) ltd; 

OBS Bank Ltd SAS (UK) Ltd.; 

12 

:> 5ASl has two (2) main brokerage accounts with: 
a Interactive Brokers with SASl maintaining three sub accounts: 
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Interactive Brokers - 11043365 - Balance at 31 -3-2016 

Interactive Brokers - 1043811 Ba!ance at 31·12-2015 

Interactive Brokers - 1043812 Balance at 30-n -2015 

o Electronic Transaction Clearing Inc. 
)- SASl maintains clients' cash and securi t ies at the following BrokerS/Custodians: 

Trust 

NOTE: Online Payment Providers-Examiners were not able to obtain the 2016 balances for the online 
payment provider accounts noted above up till 5 June 2016. The information is currently pending 
from SASl management. 

A review of the custody accounts held at the various Brokers/Custodians listed above, confirmed that 
only clients' cash and securities are maintained in those accounts. As such it appears that SASL 
cash/securities are properly segregated from that of its client. 

However, examiners noted (refer to 16.4d) that cl ient funds were removed and t ransferred to SASl 
operating accounts. Of the eight (8) custodial accounts above, eICaminers noted various transfers to 
SASl operating accounts from three of the client accounts (Citibank Client Checking, Global 
Transaction Services and Scotia Bank US #2646 - which was closed in November 2015). Management 
was not able to provide examiners with a sweep report indicating which client owed fees and what 
amounts were removed from the custodial accounts . In addition, this can be attributed to 
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reconciliations not being prepared on a timely basis (refer to 6.12) to determine and keep proper 
records of the amount of funds transferred between various accounts. 

USE OF CLIENTS' ASSETS 

6.14 To determine if the Registrant is making improper use of cfient's securities or funds. [Regulation 
84 of the SIR,lOU} 

6.14a During review of the operating accounts of the firm, Examiners observed monthly transfers of 
funds from the Citibank and Scotia US dollar account (where only client funds are held) to SASl's 
Citibank and BOB as Operating Accounts. Further Inquiry with Mr. Antonio Collie -
President/CFO/Director, eKplained that on a monthly or quarterly basis, SASlcan deduct the fees from 
the client account, as payment of trading an d commission services to SASl. 

6.14b Examiners received a fee report which depicts the amount of funds owed t o SASl along with 
the listing of cl ients and the fees associated to each customer account; however, discrepancies were 
noted in t he reports provided. Examiners are awaiting managements response. 

• - - ~ " 

,- I 
, , , 

JANUARY 1,066,037.76 1,288,021.96 221,984.20 

-
FEBRUARY 1,042,902.69 970,181.62 72,721.07 

" 

MARCH 1,095,156.89 1,034,860.71 60,296.18 

· 
APRil 1,179,044.80 1,148,661.69 30,383.11 

· 
MAY 1,158,744.10 1,131,358.35 27,385.75 

· 
JUNE 1,177,280.65 1,138,666.25 38,614.40 

· 
JULY 1,234,231.36 1,200,632.04 33,599.32 

· 
AUGUST 1,201,570.20 1,176,107.81 25,462.39 

· 
SEPTEMBER 1,042,601.03 990,745.17 51,855.86 

· 
OCTOBER 1,199,785.66 1,159,878.16 39,907.50 

· 
NOVEMBER 1,017,353.10 987,012.10 30,341.00 

· 
DECEMBER 1,388,624.30 1,329,495.35 59,128.95 

· 
TOTAL 13,803,332.54 13,555,621.21 247,711.33 
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6.14c In addition, Mr. Collie noted that as SASL has such vast amou nts owed fro m its client, SASL 
remove funds occasionally. For the 201S period Mr. Collie provided exam iners with a report that 
showed SASl removed $1,250,000 from the clients Citibank US custodial account to its Ot ibank 
operat ing account. 

~ September 20lS - $Soo,ooo 
)- December 2015 - 750,000 

6.14d Upon further review, e)(aminers noted more t han t he above mentioned was transferred from 
clients custodial account to SASL operating accounts. Examiners inquired again of Antonio Collie -
President/CFO/Director who provided the below response as to transfer of fu nds fro m the clients 
custodial account to SASL operating accounts: "SASL experienced a banking restructuring exercise 
where many of the c1ienFs fund were being transferred because of terminated banking relationships 
with SASL. Mr. Collie went on to explain thot because it operates as a online brokerage firm, many 
banks didn't want to be associated with such services as it is considered high risk and as a result a lot 
of our bonking relationships were ceased. In addition, this caused SASL having to seek ather banking 
ins titutions to secure its cash." 

Scotia US Client 

Total Scotia Client Transfer 6,122,909.74 

Transfer to Swiss 
i i 

Transfer to 

Transfer to Swiss 

Transfer to 

to Swiss 
Securities ltd 
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CIlI WENT CHECKING 
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400 """ 00 , 40993 

,. I <00,00000 ; 

, alENT 
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~NT , 
I X33780 ,. 400,00000 

I CIT' CLIENT , 
I X33780 , 

Total Citibank Oie nt 
Transfe r 3,450,000.00 

2015 TOTAL FEE'S TRANSFER RED 9,572,909.74 

Examiners discovered that SASl was not keeping a proper sweep report that detailed which clients 
and the fees associated wi th each account made up the lump sum amounts being removed from the 
clients custodial account. 

6.14e It was observed during the review of the Account Opening Documents of SASl and discussion 
with Mr. Collie, that the 'Account Application Client Agreement of 5ASl includes a clause where clients 
acknowledge t hat their securities Hmay be loaned to you (the firm) or loaned out to others". 

Furthermore, The Account Application Client Agreement (addendum to the account opening 
document) revealed a clause which provides, SASl with prior written consent from clients to utilize 
clients' securities (not cash). Section 25 - Custody oj Customer Assets of the Account Application states 
that "Swiss America declares that the Customer will enjoy a beneficial ownership in (a) securities 
purchased on its behalf and (b) any free cosh balances held by Swiss America for the account of the 
Customer and these assets are not to be treated as general assets of Swiss America. M 

Examiners test ed a sample of seventy-seven (77) clients' accounts which showed that all customer 
files maintained a Signed copy of the Client Agreement agreeing to the above clause. 

See Appendix N for SASl's Account Application. 

6.14f A review of SASl 31 December 2015 interim yearend draft reports revealed an investment 
convertible note of $65,000. Examiners Inquired of Mr. Antonio Collie (President/CFO/Director) who 
informed examiners that the investment security belonged to SASl. However, upon further review, it 
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was noted the investment was purchased from one of SASL cl ient custodial accoun ts - Global 
Transaction Services (GTS) where clients cash is held. When asked of Mr. Collie why the security was 
purchased using the clients account and not SASloperating accounts, he could not provide an answer 
to examiners. 

See Appendi" 0 for Convertible Note 
See Appendix 0 for QuickBooks Extract 
See Appendix 0 for email correspondence from GTS 

6.14g A review of SASl 's operations in conjunction with inquiry with Mr. Antonio Collie 
(President/CFO/Director) revealed that SASl has outsourced some of its responsibilities however the 
Commission was not given notification of the arrangements between SASl and Cloud Carib limited or 
DAS Inc. DAS Inc. provides SASl with back office suite and risk system, simulated trading platform, 
support services and Cloud Carib acts as SASl web server. 

SASl must give the Commission prompt notice of its outsourcing arrangements if SASl enters into an 
arrangement with a third party service provider whereby that service provider will undertake a 
material business function, activity or process on behalf of SASl. 

legislation 

Securities Industry Regulations, 2012 - 44/11 - Outsourcing 

if a registered firm proposes to enter into on arrangement with a third party service provider whereby 
that service provider will undertake a material business function, activity or process on behalf of the 
registered firm, the registered firm shall give the Commission prompt notice of such outsourcing 
arrangement. 

SASl did not provide the Commission prompt notice of its out sourcing arrangem ents with Cloud Carib 
limited or DAS Inc. as per the legislative req uirement. 

Recommendation 

SASl must give the Commission prompt notice of its outsourcing arrangements if SASl enters into an 
arrangement with a third party service provider whereby that service provider will undertake a 
material business function, activity or process on behalf of SASl. 

OTHER MAnERS 

6.15 SASLhad difficulty in providing proper source documents for information requested. In particular 
cli ent withdrawal/incoming transactions. In addition, other documents presented were at times 
incomplete due to SASl not being able to locate information as request ed. 

6.1Sa During the on-site examination, examiners were provided with verbal communication that SASl 
had experienced a security breach by a Russian Hacker in its operations where client funds were 
removed from its account and caused a substantial loss t o SASl. To ascertain the information further, 
examiners conducted several interviews with SASl President/CFO/Director Antonio Collie, 
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Information Technology Manager lorenzo Lewis, staff from the customer service department, as well 
banking and funding department; all of whom confirmed they were not aware of SA SLoper at ions ever 
experienci ng a system hack. Despite the information presented to examiners by a management 
memberof SASL team, no physical evidence was able to be gathered to support the above mentioned. 
In add ition, t he Commission was also not notified of such event. Furthermore, the informant noted 
that they were instructed not to alert the examiners who were on-site at the time of the security 
breach. 

6.1Sb While the company is transitioning from hard copy to electronic filing and until they are certain 
they have successfully uploa ded all files in IBOSS, SASl must ensure that files are also kept in a fire
proof room &jor cabinets. While enabling alarms and other security features are useful, this will not 
prevent destruction of integral client information in the event of a natural disaster or fire. Pertinent 
client files were noted throughout SASL office space in fi ling boxes and not secured in a fire proof 
cabinets or vault. 

6.1Sc Observation was also made that Janay Pyfrom Symonette - Chief Marketing Officer appears to 
have unrestricted access with editing capabilities to client account opening information through SASL 
IBOSS software with the capability of changing cl ient information (example - approving clients and/or 
assigning or changing risk rating factors). Such information should only be available to line staff for 
viewing access only. CO/MlRO who has the overall responsibility for approving and risk rating clients 
should have editing access. 

6.15d During an interview with Mr. Dorsett, it was revea led that t he DAS developers (in particular 
Anthony) have access to delete information whether a mistake or intentional from the system with 
no evidence that the transact ion/i nformation ever occurred, leaving no audit trail. This was 
communicated on two (2) occasions during an interview with Mr. Dorsett. 

6.1Se During the on·site examination, examiners were presented wi th various policy manuals. SASl 
must ensure their policy manuals are updated to reflect the firm's processes. A few areas identified 
by the team in their review were: 

};;- Advertising poliCies & procedures 
};;- Accounts Receivable 
};;- Reconciliation Process 
};;- Trading 
~ Compliance 
~ AMl 

7 CONClUSION 

7.1 The Inspection for ca use of SASl's operations revea led that the firm is not adequate based on the 
following: 

1. SASl's failure to conduct proper KYC procedures on cl ients. 
2. SASL's failure to maintain all customer complaints. 
3. SASl 's failure to maintain proper books and records of its operation. 
4. SASl's failure to conduct adequa te periodic review of clients' accounts. 
5. SASL's failure to deliver to the Commission documents as requested. 
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6. SASL's failure to obtain prior consent from the Commission with regards to change in its rights 
and obligation. 

7. SASL's faiture to meet its timely continuing obligation to the Commission with regards to 
Financial and Operational reports. 

8 RECOMMENDATION 

8.1 In light of these findings identified during the elfamination and based on the review of the 
company's operations, it is recommended that : 

1. Seek consultancy services from industry specialists with strong quantitative analysis skills to 
analyze SASL vast quantities of trade data to identify potentially fraudulent activity, such as 
front running. insider trading. fraudulent investment performance reporting. and window 
dressing 

2. The Enforcement Committee review the information submitted in this report by the 
Inspections Department to closely monitor its client complaint and suspicious transactions 
for fraudulent activities . 

3. The inspections department conduct a follow up on the operations of SASL by the 2016 
yearend . 
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